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THE BYZANTINE HERITAGE IN THE DAR AL-ISLAM:
CHURCHES AND MOSQUES IN AL-RUHA BETWEEN
THE SIXTH AND TWELFTH CENTURIES

In the study of the formation of early Islamic art and
architecture, the presence and role of late antique Chris-
tian religious buildings are elements still largely over-
looked. Recent discoveries, mostly due to epigraphic
and archaeological studies, have revealed the existence
of churches and the foundation of new ones falling
chronologically far beyond the traditional boundary
of the Islamic conquest.! While for various reasons
this phenomenon has become particularly evident in
rural areas, the analysis of churches located in towns at
the time of the Islamic conquest still presents a sort of
paradox: while it is well known that the majority of the
population was Christian at least until the tenth cen-
tury,” its architecture, art, and material culture, starting
with places of worship, appear neither in the common
narrative of early Islamic history and art nor in histories
of the Christian communities in the Dar al-Islam.’ With
the exception of the Church of the Holy Sepulchre and
its interrelation with the Dome of the Rock, almost none
of the churches used by the Christian communities in
the cities of Bilad al-Sham are mentioned in discussions
of the formation of early Islamic art and architecture.
Starting with the city of Urfa (known as Edessa and
al-Ruha in ancient times), this article examines the
presence and role of late antique churches in the urban
context of the medieval Dar al-Islam. In particular, we
will attempt to clarify the connection between these
churches and the mosques in the cities under investi-
gation. Such a relationship moves from one of simple
coexistence to substitution, the latter due to the neglect
of late antique churches caused mainly by the dimin-
ishing Christian presence and the changing attitudes
of Muslim societies towards their religious minorities.
Within this framework, the way in which Muslim
patrons searched for and reused late antique / Byzantine

artifacts for their new mosques represents a faithful mir-
ror of the shifting status of churches over the centuries.

Because of the history and structure of the aca-
demic fields involved in this analysis, some periods in
Urfa’s past have received more attention than others.
The recurring reference to Urfa in early twentieth—
century academic literature, for instance, was motivated
by the significant role the city played in the early stages of
Christianity.* More recently, because of a new approach
to studying early Islamic history, several scholars have
successfully worked on a remarkable number of liter-
ary sources produced within the local (northern Syria
and northwestern Mesopotamia) Christian communi-
ties, seeking to further explain the critical period of the
seventh century by examining some of the non-Mus-
lim accounts of the Islamic conquest.’ Finally, the early
modern and modern eras of the city have been the sub-
ject of intense discussion since the documents of the
Turkish archives began to shed new light on the life of
this provincial city during the Ottoman period.®

The medieval period (seventh to fifteenth centu-
ries)” has often been considered an extension of the
late antique / Byzantine period, following a pattern of
decline culminating in the Crusaders’ defeat.® In addi-
tion, because of the absence of monumental remains
and archaeological excavations, the reconstruction of
Urfa’s pre-Ottoman urban fabric and buildings has been
particularly difficult.” Hence, the religious art and archi-
tecture of the medieval period still lack further interpre-
tation since they appear somehow hemmed in between
the memories of the late antique / Byzantine past and
the Ottoman monuments still visible in the city today.

In exploring medieval Islamic Urfa, this essay will
integrate Christian art and architecture into the discus-
sion, showing how this approach might shed new light
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on the general analysis of early Islamic societies and on
the specific subject of the formation of Islamic art. If
Edessa is the “Christian” name of the city and Urfa the
Turkish one, al-Ruha—its Arabic name—will be used
to describe the early medieval era of the city, referred
to in Eastern Christian sources as “the time of the
Arabs.”10

BEYOND THE SEVENTH-CENTURY ISLAMIC
CONQUEST

Edessa / al-Ruha, which fell to the Arabs in 639, was a
strategic base during the campaign waged by Heraclius
(r. 610-41) against the Persians (621-26), as well as
during his withdrawal in the face of Muslim advances
a few years later. Probably for this reason, the significant
role al-Ruha played in western Mesopotamia appears
to have also been recognized by Muslims during
their conquest.!! Unfortunately, the actual process of
the Islamic conquest can not be described in detail,
since both the Christian and Muslim sources are later
reconstructions, often written to support or strengthen
certain positions relevant to the social and political
situations of the ninth century or later.!? In these later
works, the details of both the conquest and the pact
supposedly established between the two sides (known
as the Pact of ‘Umar [after the caliph ‘Umar (r. 633—
44)]) became powerful argumentative tools used in the
negotiation of a modus vivendi between the Christian
majority and the Muslim ruling minority, instead of
being faithful accounts of events that had transpired
centuries before. Even if the known versions of the “Pact
of ‘Umar” may contain some parts dating to the period
of the conquests and the related treaties, it nevertheless
represented a later stage in the relations between the
dhimmi population (non-Muslim communities under
Islamic rule) and Muslim rulers.!® Through this pact, the
members of non-Muslim communities negotiated their
relationship (both duties and rights) with their Muslim
leaders. Taxes, property matters, building and restora-
tion permissions, and behavioral and dress codes were
some of the issues addressed in the pact. In the early
treaties established during the Islamic conquest only
some of these matters were negotiated between the two
sides. In fact, the early treaties were mainly concerned

with negotiating the submission of a city and establish-
ing the capitation tax for the conquered communities
while guaranteeing them the preservation of their pri-
vate and religious properties.

At the same time, however, the examination of a
series of scattered sources composed after the Islamic
conquest may help to reconstruct, if not the exact terms
of the treaties negotiated during the conquest, then at
least the general trends characterizing the transition that
the Christian communities underwent from a Byzantine
to an Islamic rule. With respect to al-Ruha’s cultural life,
places of worship were obviously a good indicator of the
ongoing process of the transfer of power.

It is clear, for instance, that no church was destroyed
during the conquest.!* As documented by The Anony-
mous Syriac Chronicle of 1234, “each confession had
assigned to it those temples that were found in its
possession.”!® Indeed, this passage is consistent with
the different versions of the pact governing al-Ruha’s
conquest transmitted by al-Baladhuri (d. 892),'¢ and
with some later descriptions of the city. The rapid with-
drawal of the army led by Heraclius left the area without
defense so that cities like Dara, Amida, and Edessa—
three Byzantine strongholds against the Persians that
were renovated, strengthened, and embellished in the
sixth century!’—quickly surrendered when confronted
with the advancing Arab-Muslim armies.!® Western
Mesopotamia enjoyed a sort of autonomy in the Suf-
yanid period (up to 685). There were fewer soldiers
involved in the “Arab invasion” in this area than else-
where, and the new Muslim taxation system was imple-
mented at a slower pace in northern Syria and western
al-Jazira than in other areas.!” Hence, Christian com-
munities were supposedly given more latitude in deci-
sion-making.

Several sources inform us that after the conquest
church repairs were allowed, as recorded after the dev-
astation caused by earthquakes in 678-79 and 718.2
The first tremor left part of the structure of al-Ruha’s
Great Church (i.e., cathedral) in ruins. Michael the Syr-
ian recorded the destruction of the ciborium and of two
of the church walls, while Theophanes described the
extensive damage done to a dome of the cathedral (per-
haps the small dome of the ciborium). Both authors
mention that the Umayyad caliph Mu‘awiya (r. 660-80)
was somehow involved in their restoration.?!
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The authorization or endorsement given by the caliph
is extremely important to understanding the mecha-
nisms governing the relations between the local elites
and the central rulers, especially when compared to later
attitudes. In Canon number 3 of the Nestorian synod
held in 676 (almost forty years after the conquest), it was
explicitly stated that the construction of new churches
and monasteries was permissible only if carried out
under the supervision of a bishop. No particular Islamic
authority or prohibition was cited. Rather, the authority
to grant permission for a new construction lay with the
local Christian clergy.?? As Robinson suggests, the main
matters of controversy were not construction or reno-
vation in themselves, but the chain of permission and
authority behind such decision-making.? In the Life of
Gabriel of Qartmin (Tur ‘Abdin), Mar Gabriel (ca. sev-
enth century) is said to have been received with great
joy by the emir, who “gave him a prostagma (official
document) signed with his own hand, with ordinances
on all the points he had asked for: in it he granted all
the suryayé (Syrian Orthodox)...[permission for] the
building of churches and monasteries.”** Hence, if it
is true that the construction of new churches was a
common feature across Christian communities dur-
ing early Islamic rule, the Mesopotamian area seems to
have undergone a particularly intense period of build-
ing activity.?®

Another figure worth mentioning is Athanasius bar
Gumayer (ca. late seventh / early eighth century), who
was highly involved with the local elites and central gov-
ernment. His biography illustrates both the relations
between the different Christian communities and the
attitudes of the ruling powers and the Christians toward
building activities after the Islamic conquest. The caliph
‘Abd al-Malik (r. 685-705) ordered Athanasius to tutor
his brother, ‘Abd al-‘Aziz, the governor of Egypt, where
Athanasius probably also held the position of tax collec-
tor.2® A member of a Jacobite family in al-Ruha, Atha-
nasius was identified as a landowner and the patron of
church restorations and construction in both al-Fus-
tat and al-Ruha. According to some Christian sources,
Athanasius sponsored two churches built ex novo in
al-Fustat, along with the renovation in al-Ruha of the
Church of the Mother of God and of another building
as a baptistery. In this last building, he also provided

the canals and a basin covered with brass and decorated
with marble, gold, and silver. It is stated that this basin
was such a fine-looking piece that it was compared with
the one sponsored, under Justinian (r. 527-65), by the
bishop Amazonius in the old Great Church of Edessa.?’

It is probable that the Jacobite Athanasius’s author-
ity was respected by both the Umayyad rulers and
church officials, the latter either Melkite or Jacobite.
Due to changes instituted by Heraclius a few years
before the Islamic conquest,*® Melkite officials, at least
in the cities, filled the highest positions of power.?° In
al-Ruha, and probably elsewhere, they were assigned
the Great Church,?® and in al-Fustat and Hulwan (in
Egypt), where Athanasius worked side by side with
the Umayyad governor, Melkites served as chamber-
lains.®! After ‘Abd al-‘Aziz’s death, Athanasius went
back to Damascus, where his presence and wealth
created some discontent among the local Melkite elite.
He was so rich that he once offered to pay a tax collec-
tor in al-Ruha 5,000 dinars in order to prevent the man-
dylion, al-Ruha’s most famous icon, from being taken
away.*?

Indeed, the traditional Byzantine hierarchy within
the Melkite and Jacobite communities was challenged
by the nature of the new Islamic rule. A certain degree of
autonomy and the absence of the Byzantine civil admin-
istrator, combined with the capacity of the people of al-
Ruha to adapt to a changing world, presented the city’s
Christian majority with a number of new opportuni-
ties.>* With the transition to Muslim rule, the bound-
aries between the various Christian communities were
no longer lines of exclusion from access to power;
what mattered instead were the personal relations that
a Christian individual maintained with a Muslim ruler,
or the socio-political weight of a family, insofar as it
was acknowledged and integrated into the ruling sys-
tem of the Muslims.** A passage by al-Jahiz (ninth cen-
tury) epitomizes the status of the Christians in this new
“world of opportunities”: “Among them are to be found
government secretaries, attendants of kings, physicians
of nobles, perfumers, and bankers.”* In the first century
after the conquest, individuals like these (and Athana-
sius bar Gumayer was surely among them) helped not
only to preserve al-Ruha’s Byzantine heritage but also to
increase the number of its Christian monuments.
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Other evidence of the building activities of the Chris-
tians in the early Islamic period is provided by the order
given by the local governor in the early ninth century
to destroy some basilicas and a monastery that they had
erected after the Islamic conquest in the seventh cen-
tury.3¢

As part of the Umayyad caliphate, al-Ruha can be
compared with other urban centers formerly under
Byzantine rule (such as those in Egypt or Bilad al-
Sham), or with a significant Christian population (e.g.,
in upper Mesopotamia). If the preservation of extant
Christian places of worship and their eventual res-
toration were shared goals,*” new building activities
sponsored by Christian patrons seem to have been less
common, at least in cities such as Jerusalem, Damascus,
Aleppo, and al-Raqqa, which did not witness the con-
struction of any new Christian buildings.*® Al-Ruha, in
this sense, shared the fate of smaller towns such as Ma-
daba in the Palestinian region and of villages scattered
throughout the provinces, where the Muslim presence
was less pronounced.® In such villages and towns, local
Christian leaders continued to hold a certain authority
and therefore the ongoing construction of new churches
probably was allowed or at least tolerated.

If the relation between mosques and churches in Mus-
lim-founded urban settlements represents a completely
different case (which will not be taken into consider-
ation in this article), in conquered cities where Arab
Muslims decided to settle, their search for a symbolic
religious space became a crucial issue during the early
Islamic period. As will be shown, this search involved
existing churches with the result that, as in other cities,
the fate of al-Ruha’s Christian monuments was con-
nected to early Muslim efforts to step in and change this
Christian urban center.

MOSQUES AS ADDITIONS

The Muslim religious buildings visible in Urfa today
date from the late medieval and Ottoman periods. The
earliest Arabic epigraphic evidence also refers to the
post-Crusades era.®’ In the absence of archaeological
studies, we can only offer speculations based on liter-
ary sources regarding early medieval constructions. At
the end of the section in his history dedicated to the

conquest of Mesopotamia, al-Baladhuri mentions the
foundation of prayer halls (masjid) in both al-Raqqa
and al-Ruha.*! The founder is said to have been Sa‘id
b. ‘Amir b. Hidhiyam, the successor of the conqueror
‘Tyad b. Ghanm.

Given the fact that in the entire Dar al-Islam no
structural foundation pertaining to the pre-Umayyad
period has survived, mosques dating to the very early
period are still a question mark in the history of Islamic
architecture.*? The ecclesia incredulorum in Damascus
described by the Christian pilgrim Arculfus (670s) refers
to the Muslim place of worship that was adjacent to the
Church of St. John before both buildings were destroyed
by al-Walid (r. 705-15) in 705—although the precise
date and nature of its construction are unknown.*® The
same Arculfus described the first mosque on the area of
the Haram in Jerusalem as having been built “in a rough
manner” and raised “upon some remains of old ruins.”**
An early mosque in Amida is cited by Theodotus in the
seventh century, and it is almost certain that the Muslim
community in al-Ruha required a place of worship.*

To further complicate the matter of the location
and nature of early mosques, when analyzing medi-
eval sources we should consider how, in later periods,
accounts describing the existence of a mosque dating
to the beginning of Islam were often used to justify cer-
tain changes in the contemporary urban fabric. Indeed,
the desire to provide a newly established mosque with
an “historical background” often led to the fabrica-
tion of a narrative depicting the existence of an ear-
lier mosque in that location. For instance, when the
Seljugs took over al-Ruha in 1084, two churches—the
Church of St. John and that of the Mother of God—were
described as having been transformed into mosques,
based on the claim that at the time of ‘Umar’s conquest
they were used as Muslim places of worship.*® In this
specific case, it is more likely that if any seventh-cen-
tury mosque had been established in the area where the
churches were located, it was done in the area surround-
ing the churches and not in the precise location of their
prayer halls (i.e., sanctuaries). As a matter of fact, no
contemporary source says that the two churches, both
built before the Islamic conquest, were transformed
into a mosque at the time of the conquest. Moreover,
they were both also still in use (as Christian places of
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worship) after 1084. It is possible that this anecdote was
related to the partial destruction of the seventh-century
mosque by the Byzantines in the tenth century and to
its later reestablishment by the Seljugs after their con-
quest in 1084.%” Indeed, the tradition about ‘Umar was
very often readapted in a medieval post-conquest sce-
nario: “Umar, the mosque-builder” was called back into
action as part of the new strategy regarding places of
worship.*® A connection was thus rhetorically estab-
lished between the “new” medieval conquests and ear-
lier victories over the Byzantines. Hence, in the late
middle ages the construction of several mosques was
ascribed to ‘Umar.*

Unlike many other cities, the new rulers in al-Ruha
did not establish a congregational mosque during the
Umayyad era. If in Damascus the main reason for
enlarging the first mosque—beyond the prominence of
the ruling community—was the growth of the Muslim
population,®® the absence of such a mosque in al-Ruha
could be related to the scarcity of Muslims in Mesopo-
tamia during the early Islamic period.

A mosque was, however, founded in 825 when, in
the absence of the legitimate ruler, ‘Abdallah b. Tahir
(d. 844), his brother Muhammad, who was left in charge,
ordered its construction and, as mentioned above, the
destruction of Christian buildings that he considered
to have been built after the seventh-century Islamic
conquest. Included among these were the Church of
the Forty Martyrs, the western cubicula of the baptis-
tery, the sacristy (diaconicum) and treasury of the Great
Church, some basilicas, and a Melkite convent.”! The
following description further illustrates Muhammad’s
building activities: “He built a mosque in the tetrapy-
lon (a Roman building, often built at a crossroads, with
monumental gates on each of its four sides) in front of
the old church, in a place called Bethschabta in the past,
where primores (elders, “the most distinguished ones”)
used to discuss ecclesiastical and philosophical issues
after morning services.”*? Michael the Syrian adds that
the place demolished to build the mosque was covered
by a dome.>

Instead of being the personal action of a “foolish”
ruler, it seems more likely that the whole or partial
destruction of some churches®* and the construction
of a mosque on a portion of a church property were

indications of rising tensions within the Muslim com-
munity regarding Christian monuments and their vis-
ibility in the urban landscape, which began around the
end of the eighth century.”> The metropolitan of al-
Ruha traveled with some bishops to Egypt to negoti-
ate with ‘Abdallah b. Tahir an end to the violent acts
ordered by his brother Muhammad. According to Syriac
sources, in a subsequent edict the official ruler decreed
that what had been demolished would have to be rebuilt
and that the destruction of churches would have to
stop.”®

In 985, al-Mugaddasi noted the existence of a mosque
in al-Ruha when he visited the city after it was set on fire
by Nicephorus. After describing its magnificent church,
the author mentions a mosque (jami‘) located to one
side (‘ala taraf) that was in disrepair (sha'itha).”” Dur-
ing his visit after the 1144 victory over the Crusaders,
Prince Zangi (r. 1127-46), while ordering the restora-
tion of Muslim places of worship in the city, mentioned
one mosque and one prayer hall. The former was the
mosque dating to 825, while the latter was perhaps the
seventh-century mosque mentioned above. Retrieved
for Muslim worship in 1084 by the Seljugs, it was prob-
ably used as the palace of the Latin bishop during the
period of Latin rule (1099-1144).%8

Before continuing with this assessment, it is neces-
sary to stress two aspects related to the construction
of these two early medieval mosques. The first one is
that they were both built without taking over any of the
physical space occupied by the Christians. Although the
mosque constructed in 825 was built by annexing part
of the property of the “old church” (St. Sophia), a pas-
sage in the Chronicon ecclesiasticum underlines that the
building transformed into a mosque was not a conse-
crated place (i.e., a sanctuary or chapel). It is also cer-
tain that the “old church” remained in use long after this
date. We should note, too, that the building located on
the site where the mosque was later erected served dif-
ferent functions before it was added to the church com-
plex and that the mosque was built when the churches
believed to have been constructed after the seventh-cen-
tury conquest were destroyed. These two facts may be
related to the mounting Islamic debate over what was
“originally” Christian, namely, that which was or was
not Christian since pre-Islamic times.*
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Fig. 1. The Great Mosque of Aleppo, which was enlarged in the middle ages. In the background is the dome of al-Halawiyya
Madrasa, built on the site of the Church of St. Helen, which was in use until 1124. (Photo: Mattia Guidetti)

The second aspect is related to the specific location
of the mosque built in 825, namely, its construction in
front of a church. This pattern, which we see develop-
ing in al-Ruha in 825, should be considered part of a
broader trend that began during the early middle ages in
formerly Christian areas of the caliphate. Such a pattern,
for instance, seems to have been followed in Aleppo,
Diyarbakir, Hims, Amman, al-Rusafa, and other cities.*
The first prayer halls or early congregational mosques
were constructed in those areas of a city where a church
(often the cathedral or great church) stood. This was
sometimes done by taking over part of the church’s
property—even though its consecrated hall was not dis-
placed by the mosque nor was it destroyed.5!

Many cities followed this pattern, with the main
church remaining in use and the mosque “added” in
front of or adjacent to it. While in the south of Bilad
al-Sham this pattern was probably followed with some
variations,®? other examples similar to that of al-Ruha
can also be provided. In Mardin, an “atrium” was added
to a mosque of the Arabs in 1170, causing great anxi-
ety among the local Christian population.®® Either the
Muslims enlarged their mosque with a new courtyard
or they took over the “atrium” of an extant church and
added it to their mosque. The anxiety of the local Chris-
tians would support the second interpretation, and if
this was indeed the case, it means that before that date
the church and the mosque were situated beside each
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Fig. 2. The Great Mosque of Aleppo and the Church of St. Helen, between 715 and 1124. (After Michel Ecochard, “Note

sur un édifice chrétien d’Alep,” Syria 27 [1950]: figs. 3, 4)

other. In Mosul, the proximity between the church
and the mosque was even more apparent. While relat-
ing the different accounts of the massacre of the year
750, the local historian al-Azdi (early tenth century)®
refers to a church adjacent to one of the entrances of
the mosque: dukhil al-nas al-masjid ‘ala bab al-mas-
jid mimma yali al-bi'a (the people enter the mosque
through the door of the mosque located adjacent to
the church).® There is a similar passage regarding
Aleppo: hadha al-haykal kana fi’l-kanisa al-‘uzma allati
mawqi‘uha tijah bab al-jami‘ al-gharbi (this altar was
in the great church, whose place was beside the west-
ern door of the Friday mosque),®® where the original
connection between the two buildings is somehow still
discernible even after the architectural alterations that
occurred on the site in the medieval period (figs. 1 and
2).%7 Hence, the idea of building a mosque in front of
the main church in al-Ruha was not only a provocation
by an aggressive ruler, but the manifestation of a very

early Muslim attitude in relation to existing churches.

Early mosques such as the one built in 825 in al-Ruha
were thus often additions to the urban fabric. That they
were often situated next to churches suggests, on the
one hand, the close relationship between local Christian
elites and Muslim rulers, and on the other, the ongoing
negotiation of urban space that had been taking place
since the seventh-century conquest. Nonetheless, with
their presence next to mosques, these churches not only
fulfilled their role as places of worship for the Christian
communities but also, as is easy to imagine, had a role
in the shaping of early Islamic religious culture.

Late antique Christian art was not simply a remnant
of the Byzantine empire or a useless pile of ruins in the
Dar al-Islam; rather, it played a vibrant role in almost
every conquered city. In view of this evidence, it is logi-
cal to suppose that late antique Christian art exerted
an influence on the formation of Islamic art in this
period.
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THE ROLE OF BYZANTINE ART AND
ARCHITECTURE IN THE EARLY
ISLAMIC PERIOD

Medieval chroniclers and travelers were often confused
by the fact that many of al-Ruha’s churches were associ-
ated with different saints at various points in time. These
multiple dedications have also hampered modern efforts
to reconstruct the city’s sacred topography (see plan 1
in the Appendix).®® It is, however, clear that especially
after the seventh-century conquest one church stands
out among others as the symbol of the city. Indeed,
throughout the medieval chronicles many churches
are cited, but only one church is described at length.®
This church was the Melkite cathedral, originally dedi-
cated to St. Thomas when his relics were brought to it
and later consecrated to St. Sophia after Constantinople’s
cathedral on the Bosphorus.”® If, as is largely accepted,
the “Church of the Christians,” cited by Procopius
(d. ca. 565) when describing its restoration by Justin-
ian (r. 527-65), was founded on the site where the first
church of the city was established by Abgar according
to the Syriac sources,”! then the famous Great Church
of St. Sophia was located “above the water spring, on
the western side of the city.””?

In fact, after the flood of 525, Justinian built a new
church on the site of the earliest church of Edessa. It
was probably for this reason that St. Sophia was later
called either the Great Church or the Old Church.
Although the name is not explicitly quoted, this is prob-
ably also the church to which a famous Syriac hymn
refers.”

St. Sophia was reassigned to the diophysite (Mel-
kite) community by Heraclius after having been used
for a while by the monophysites (Jacobites) as their own
cathedral. Medieval sources were aware of how long it
took to build the church:

We now describe the glorious and great church of St.
Sophia, which is located in the city. Its construction was
started by Aitallah,”* bishop of Edessa in the age of the
emperor Constantinus, the victorious...Nobody can
describe its beauty and its solid structure; it was admired
by visitors, [and] its interiors were covered by gold, glass
(mosaics), and white marble. Many kings were in charge
of its construction.”®

This church, in front of which the Muslims constructed
a mosque, was often noted in Arab-Muslim sources:
St. Sophia appears, as do the Church of the Holy Sep-
ulchre in Jerusalem, St. George’s in Lydda, St. Sergius’s
in al-Rusafa, St. Helen’s in Aleppo, St. Cassianus’s in
Antioch, St. John’s in Hims, and, after 705, Holy Mary’s
in Damascus, to mention only the most important ones.
Indeed, these structures, today either gone or in ruins,
represented the Byzantine heritage in the early medieval
Dar al-Islam, and travelers and geographers were not
insensitive to their beauty.”®

The cathedral of al-Ruha was among the build-
ings regarded as the world’s greatest marvels. Starting
with the descriptions of Ibn al-Fagih al-Hamadhani
(d. 903) and Ibn Khurradadhbih (d. ca. 911),”7 the
kanisat al-Ruhad appeared in every list of the “marvels of
the world” completed by Arab geographers.”® Ibn Khur-
radadhbih, echoing the seventh-century Syriac hymn,
added that the stone of which the cathedral was made
was renowned, and he praised the structural quality of
the church.” Other passages are more descriptive. For
instance, al-Muqaddasi provided a succinct evaluation
of its architectural beauty, noting that “al-Ruha has a
magnificent church with arched galleries and covered by
mosaics.”8® Al-Istakhri (tenth century) mentioned that
the majority of the city’s population was Christian, and
that there were roughly three hundred Christian altars,
monasteries, and cells, adding that its (great) church
was the largest in the Dar al-Islam.8!

The admiration for al-Ruha’s cathedral went even
further. Al-Muqaddasi in a famous passage included
this church among those in Bilad al-Sham that repre-
sented a sort of challenge for Muslim builders. He also
reported that al-Agqsa Mosque and later the Great
Mosque of Damascus (after the 746 earthquake, which
ruined the former) should be regarded, along with the
cathedral in al-Ruha, as the top three existing majestic
monuments.?? The fame of al-Ruha’s cathedral extended
even beyond its disappearance: in the first half of the
fourteenth century, the Persian traveler Hamd Allah
Mustawfi described the city and mentioned both what
he read in the texts by previous visitors and what he
was able to see:

...[The city] was built with a polished stone and the
church that was built there was also made of the same
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stone. In its center there was a dome 100 gaz (roughly
100 English yards) in width. The author of the Masalik
wa-mamdlik (Ibn Khurradadhbih) writes that it was the
most magnificent and solid building ever built; today,
however, it is in ruins.®3

The need to describe a city based on its ruins rather
than its extant monuments may suggest that early post-
Crusades Muslim architecture was not very impressive.
Furthermore, this passage could be used as compelling
evidence that the site of the church was not covered by
new buildings (i.e., mosques), at least until Mustawfi’s
visit (figs. 3 and 4; fig. 4 has a view of what the area
around the famous Balikli1 Gol looked like before a park
was constructed there in the 1980s; the Great Church
[building 2 in the plans of the city] must have been
located in the area down by the citadel).

In the early medieval period, one is able to distinguish
other traces of the high regard that Muslim patrons
had for al-Ruha’s Great Church. In 829, the caliph
al-Ma'mun (r. 813-33) visited the city. He entered the
Great Church and admired its beauty. He then dis-
cussed the church’s revenues with the bishop, who listed
them while complaining about the taxes. Eventually,
the caliph rescinded the taxes levied on the khans, the
shops, the baths, and the mills (all properties owned by
the church), leaving only the land taxes in place.?

Some decades before, the caliph al-Mansur (r. 754-
75), builder of Baghdad and al-Rafiqa, led an expedi-
tion to Mesopotamia in order to strengthen Abbasid
rule in the region. His passage through al-Ruha was
recorded, due to the destruction of the city’s walls. In
his chronicle, Michael the Syrian gives a detailed expla-
nation for this destruction. According to the author, the
caliph requested that a few small columns piled up in the
Great Church be taken to his new palace in al-Rafiqa.
The Christians of al-Ruha refused to give al-Mansur the
columns and in revenge the caliph demolished the walls
of the city.?> This account sheds light on the caliph’s
desire to decorate his palace with columns from that
particular church, which had probably been left there
to be used for a future restoration project. The account
further highlights the option that the Christians had to
refuse a request by the caliph. Indeed, al-Mansur’s pur-
pose was not to destroy the church or to despoil it, since
he did not ask for any structural columns and did not
inflict revenge against it because he had been denied.

Instead, it is very probable that the caliph only aspired
to exhibit in his palace several columns from one of the
world’s wonders at that time. Although one may doubt
the veracity of this single witness, further analysis of dif-
ferent sources reveals a number of other very similar
situations, indicating that the incident with Caliph al-
Mansur in al-Ruha was only one expression of a wide-
spread phenomenon.

Indeed, the primacy placed by Muslim rulers and
patrons on prominently displaying Byzantine architec-
tural fragments was evident in relation to a number of
different Byzantine and Muslim buildings. For instance,
three marble columns were transferred from the cathe-
dral of San‘a’ (called al-Qalis or al-Qullays) to Mecca
during the restoration of its mosque by Ibn Zubayr
(d. 692) in 680.3¢ Despite this transfer, San‘a”s church
(for whose construction the builder Abraha was said
to have received some material from Byzantine lands
in the sixth century®’) was still in use at least until the
age of al-Mansur when it was looted after having been
described at the court of the Abbasid al-Saffah.®® A few
years after Ibn Zubayr’s restoration, when Mecca was
reconquered and the Ka'ba needed to be reconstructed,
Sergius, a Christian Melkite and ‘Abd al-Malik’s trea-
surer, persuaded the caliph to take the columns for the
reconstruction of the “temple of Mecca” from some-
where else, thereby saving the Holy Gethsemane, which
according to the original plan was supposed to have
been stripped of its columns.?” Other accounts also
point to this practice. At some point before 715, the
Christians of Lydda told the future caliph Sulayman
(r. 715-17) to search for columns in a deposit far from
the city in order to avoid having him despoil the Church
of St. George. From this Christian site, highly esteemed
in Islamic eschatology, the Palestinian governor (and
later caliph) had originally intended to loot columns for
his new mosque in al-Ramla.®® Although al-Walid trans-
ferred some marble columns by sea from the Church of
St. Mary in Antioch to the Umayyad Mosque of Damas-
cus, the Christian house of worship was still in use in the
tenth century, as witnessed by al-Mas‘udi.”! Finally, the
Church of Cyrrhus was also said to have been stripped
of some furnishings (alat al-kanisa), in order to embel-
lish the Umayyad mosque in Aleppo (under either
al-Walid or Sulayman, at the beginning of the eighth cen-

tury).”?
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Fig. 3. Urfa, view from the citadel, 1920s. Collection of Professor A. Kingsley Porter. (Photo: K. A. C. Creswell. Courtesy
of the Fine Arts Library, Harvard College Library); © Creswell Archive, Ashmolean Museum, Oxford neg. EA.CA. 6593.

Fig. 4. Urfa, view from the citadel. Postcard from the 1970s. (Photo: courtesy of Dr. Ian Wilson)
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These accounts narrate both successful and unsuc-
cessful attempts by the caliph (the most prominent
authority in Islamic lands) to seize property from his
Christian subjects. On the one hand, there were clear
requests by Muslim rulers to reclaim parts of Chris-
tian churches for their new mosques (with the exception
of the example of al-Ruha, where the final destination
was a palace); on the other hand, these rulers clearly
acknowledged the validity of prior agreements that pro-
tected such churches, which were considered Christian
properties. For this reason, the Christians often chose
to refuse to allow the reutilization of church artifacts, or
persuaded the claimant not to loot or despoil a partic-
ular building. It is noteworthy that whenever a transfer
of material did take place, this did not mean the end of
the use of the despoiled church.

The Muslims needed these architectural frag-
ments because, at the structural level, the elements
of early Islamic architecture were, at least in the Syr-
ian area (including the Umayyad patronage of Medina
and Mecca), basically the same as those of Byzan-
tine churches: columns (in the prayer hall and often
in the courtyard), marble panels (for pavements and
lower parts of walls), and glass and stone tesserae (for
the mosaics in the upper parts of the walls). The Mus-
lims made use of scattered materials, sometimes recy-
cling the ruins of churches that had been abandoned or
destroyed by earthquakes,”® and at other times prodding
the Christian communities to “share” their precious
architectural heritage. Early Islamic religious architec-
ture in Bilad al-Sham took shape within the aesthetical
horizon of the late antique world: the idea of luxury and
decoration of a sacred space descended directly from
monumental Byzantine architecture.”* And, as men-
tioned above, the point of reference for these artifacts
was not only the Byzantine empire but also Byzantine
churches within the caliphate.”

Al-Ruha’s cathedral of St. Sophia was, like other
churches of the early Dar al-Islam, a monument desired
and admired by the Islamic elites. The church became
part of the marvels of the Dar al-Islam, and the beauty
of its structure was recorded by Muslim geographers
as a source of pride for the caliphate, along with other
non-Muslim structures of antiquity. However, ancient
temples were for the most part not connected to a living
community, while engineering projects such as the

Lighthouse of Alexandria or the bridge of Sanjar were
perceived as part of the infrastructure. The cathedral of
St. Sophia, too, was one of the athar (antiquities) and
‘aja’ib (marvels) inherited by the Muslims, but it was
also the place of worship of one of the main religious
communities protected within the society of the Dar
al-Islam. Indeed, Christians were not only a defeated
community, but a living and productive cultural entity
within medieval Islam, sharing with Muslims a mutual
feeling of admiration, rivalry, and even common sacred
figures and places.”® These were all active elements
within the sociopolitical framework wherein the Chris-
tian population formed a numerical majority although
holding lesser rights (due to their dhimmi status), while
the ruling minority was Muslim.”” Hence, beyond the
idea of athar and ‘aja’ib, churches became the logical
mirror for early Islamic art and architecture, acknowl-
edged as masterworks of technical skill and opulence
and utilized by a community considered to be a com-
petitor of the monotheistic faith.

Nevertheless, some of these precious artifacts and
architectural fragments remained unavailable to Islamic
construction projects until the eleventh to twelfth cen-
turies. Only then would a second major change, after
that of the appearance of the early mosques, transform
the landscape of al-Ruha and the other cities of Bilad
al-Sham.

NARSES” COMPLAINT AND
THE DISAPPEARANCE OF LATE
ANTIQUE ARCHITECTURE

Around the mid-twelfth century, the Armenian pa-
triarch Narses lamented that the Christian world had
abandoned one of the cradles of Christianity to Muslim
rule. In a poem, he impersonates al-Ruha and after
having addressed Rome, turns his attention to Con-
stantinople:

Listen to my desperate weeping;

because I was part

of your domain with the title of metropolis.
Within my walls stood a temple built by you

and consecrated with the same name as yours...”

The two churches of St. Sophia connected the second
Rome to Edessa / al-Ruha. However, Narses” complaint
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met with no success: in the Byzantine as well as in the
Latin world, al-Ruha started to be associated with its
Christian past (often erroneously regarded as exclusively
pre-Islamic). In that same period, a great number of
Christian structures, most dating back to the Byzantine
era—including St. Sophia, described as a missing mon-
ument by Narses—collapsed or were destroyed (com-
pare plan 2 with plan 3 in the Appendix).

It is, however, misleading to consider the conquest by
Zangi in 1146 and the period of early Ayyubid rule as
the only causes of this major urban change. It is perhaps
better to say that the apex and the end of the conflict
against the Crusaders rendered irreversible a process
that had already started around the first half of the elev-
enth century.

The chronology of the Melkite cathedral of St. Sophia
is paradigmatic. Already partially destroyed in 1032
during the conflict between the Seljuq Salman and the
Byzantine Maniaces,” the church was then restored
for worship when it received an assembly of Chris-
tian citizens in 1083-84.1% For unknown reasons, the
church partially collapsed in 1105-6 and it seems to
have remained in precarious condition until 1174 or
1184, when it was finally demolished.!%!

By the eleventh century, the continuous state of
warfare was affecting the integrity of a building that in
previous centuries had withstood change, even when
confronted with the Abbasid caliph al-Mansur’s request
for its columns.!??> Most importantly, when during the
period of Latin rule (1099-1144) the Church of St. John
became the Latin cathedral of the city,!%® the restoration
of places of worship belonging to local Christians was
no longer guaranteed, as the chronology of the cathe-
dral of St. Sophia makes clear. It continued to be diffi-
cult to make restorations after 1146 as well. This could
be considered one among several causes for the deci-
sion to demolish some churches, e.g., the Church of the
Apostles, which was destroyed by the Muslims once the
northern part of the building collapsed.!%*

One should also note that following Zangi’s con-
quest in 1146 most of the confiscated churches of al-
Ruha were not transformed into mosques but used for
different functions: the Church of St. John became a
wool deposit, St. Stephen’s a granary, and St. Thomas’s
a stable.’®> Only in a later period were they destroyed;

eventually on some sites new buildings were erected,
including some mosques. It was in the midst of this
transformation that Hamd Allah Mustawfi, in the first
half of the fourteenth century, was still able to see the
ruins of the cathedral of St. Sophia.!%

One reason for the confiscation of church proper-
ties had to do with the state of war at the time. When a
city was conquered by force (‘anwatan), the properties
of the ruling elites, who normally escaped into exile or
were jailed, became spoils of war and the property of
the new ruler. Places of worship were included among
such spoils. By contrast, to surrender acknowledging the
enemy’s superiority—as al-Ruha had in the seventh cen-
tury—meant the implementation of a pact (as a conse-
quence of surrendering peacefully to the enemy [sulh])
that would normally guarantee the soundness of the
properties belonging to the defeated.

After the Byzantine conquest in 1031-32, the mosque
in al-Ruha was destroyed,'%” to be reestablished later
on under the Seljugs in 1084.1% A few years afterward,
the Crusaders transformed it into the residence of their
Latin bishop.!% Finally, under the rule of Zangi and Nur
al-Din (r. 1146-74), it was reestablished as a mosque,
while at the same time a certain number of churches
were shut down and eventually destroyed.!'® One
should note that in this last case, churches not belon-
ging directly to the Latins were also confiscated since
the new rulers believed that some Latins had worship-
ped in them.!!!

In analyzing the transformation of al-Ruha’s sacred
landscape after the Islamic conquest in the seventh cen-
tury, it is also worth taking into account factors related
to the city’s confessional demography. Even if divided
into different communities, the population of Edessa
/ al-Ruha on the eve of the 639 conquest was entirely
Christian and remained largely so until the tenth cen-
tury.!!? Starting in the eleventh century—probably
with the rise of the Seljugs—the number of Muslims
increased with the result that: “[The city] was then
populated by numerous Christians and Muslims, and
was frequented by innumerable crowds of all kinds of
artisans.”!!® Indeed, during the period of Latin rule,
the local population experienced firsthand the conflict
between the Crusaders and the Muslims. Matthew of
Edessa described the transfer of the local population
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to Samosata ordered by the Latins in 1113-14, which
left the city “deserted like a widowed woman.”!!* Tt is
probable that after Zangi’s conquest, as the Muslims
replaced the Latins as rulers, their numbers increased.!
In 1146, Zangi had a community of Jews transferred to
al-Ruha, thereby reestablishing a Jewish presence in the
city almost six centuries after they had been banned by
Heraclius.!1®

The shift in the confessional demography percepti-
bly affected the existence of places of worship in al-Ruha
between the eleventh and thirteenth centuries (com-
pare plan 2 with plan 3 in the Appendix). Furthermore,
each time a ruler of a different faith assumed control,
places of worship became the first arena in which the
nature of the new power could be displayed. The 1099
Crusade and the conquests of Zangi in 1146 stand out
for their symbolic magnitude among such changes of
rule.!!’” Although alterations to the urban fabric had
been ongoing since the beginning of the eleventh cen-
tury, they accelerated at the end of the conflict between
Latin and Muslim forces.

It is easy to observe how places of worship belong-
ing to other cities in the Dar al-Islam followed a simi-
lar pattern. In Antioch, for instance, the Church of St.
Cassianus was transformed into a mosque by Sulayman
b. Qutlumish in 1084, the same year that the mosque
in al-Ruha was reestablished after having perhaps been
annexed to a Christian building.!!® In Aleppo, a church
was first transformed into a mosque under Mirdasid rule
at the beginning of the eleventh century.!!® After this
date, the city would also undergo other major changes.
By comparing the depictions of Aleppo offered by Ibn
Butlan in 1051 and Ibn Jubayr in 1185, we can perceive
the change in the nature of places of worship. The first
author mentions one mosque and two churches on the
citadel and one mosque and six churches in the walled
city, whereas the second counts one Muslim sanctuary
on the citadel and one mosque and five or six madrasas
in the downtown area.!?’ As the clash between Crusad-
ers and Muslims intensified, further decisions to con-
vert four churches into mosques (later transformed into
madrasas) point to irreversible changes to the city’s
urban panorama.!?!

Hence, Narses’ unheard and desperate lament could
be taken as a symbolic farewell to the entirety of late

antique architecture, marking the end of the five hun-
dred-year Byzantine presence in the Muslim-ruled cities
of Bilad al-Sham. In the context of this transforma-
tion in the urban fabric, one should ask if and how the
availability of numerous Byzantine architectural spo-
lia affected Islamic architectural patronage, which had
begun to reshape the major urban centers of the Dar
al-Islam since the time of the Muslim drive against the
Byzantines in the eleventh century and later against the
Crusaders.

THE USE OF LATE ANTIQUE ARCHITECTURE
IN THE MEDIEVAL ISLAMIC PERIOD

After Zangi’s conquest (following two military incur-
sions, in 1144 and 1146), large sections of al-Ruha’s
ramparts needed to be rebuilt. Fragments from the
Church of the Confessors, the Church of St. Theodore,
and the Church of St. Michael the Archangel were thus
used to restore and strengthen the walls of the city.!??
Masonry and architectural pieces from the latter two
churches were also used to fortify the citadel, as were
materials from the Church of the Apostles and later
(probably around or after 1174) from the Churches of
St. Stephen and St. Sophia (figs. 5, 6, and 7).

No particular attention was paid to the Byzan-
tine materials that were reused in the city walls—they
became part of the structure of the masonry, just as any
other element. The practice was common at that time.
However, al-Ruha’s walls lack the regular insertion of
column shafts found in the medieval walls of Afamiyya
or Bosra, where more ancient / classical buildings were
probably available.!??

Additional sources also point out that some architec-
tural fragments from the cathedral of St. Sophia were
reused in the mosque of Harran, which was extended
during the reigns of Nur al-Din and Salah al-Din
(r. 1174-93).124 Unfortunately, the lack of extensive
excavations prevents us from knowing the exact nature
of this practice in the expansion of the mosque.'?> From
the surveys, it seems that it mainly involved the reuse
of decorative pieces with no structural function. The
new courtyard entrance to the prayer hall of the mosque
(which is today partially ruined) was a veritable minia-
ture museum of late antique sculpture (fig. 8): two
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Fig. 5. Urfa, Byzantine material reused in the masonry of a tower of the citadel. (Photo: Mattia Guidetti)

Fig. 6. Urfa, detail of a Byzantine artifact reused in the masonry of a tower of the citadel. (Photo: Mattia Guidetti)
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Fig. 7. Urfa, detail of a Byzantine artifact reused in the masonry of a tower of the citadel. (Photo: Mattia Guidetti)

Fig. 8. The Great Mosque of Harran, portal of the medieval courtyard. (Photo: Mattia Guidetti)
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Fig. 9. Left) Byzantine capital decorated with acanthus leaves and wreath. Reused in the enlargement of the Great Mosque
of Harran. (Photo: Mattia Guidetti)
Right) Capital decorated with acanthus leaves and wreath. Open-air section of the Museum of Antiquities in Urfa. (Photo:
Mattia Guidetti)

columns were inserted in the masonry flanking the
door, while some capitals and head pillars were set sym-
metrically to the gate. A richly decorated stone column,
nowadays in pieces, was reused as a molded cornice
at the time of the mosque’s enlargement. A compari-
son with some Byzantine remains found in Urfa today
should also be made. The capital, still visible in the court-
yard entrance of the mosque of Harran, is sculpted with
acanthus leaves and wreaths, similar to one presently on
display in the open-air section of the Museum of Urfa
(fig. 9). Furthermore, the scattered fragments of the
Harran mosque’s stone columns decorated with grapes
and vine leaves—some of which have fallen from the
cornice of the entrance door of the mosque—could also
easily have belonged to a fifth- to sixth-century Byz-
antine building (fig. 10).!2® One should not, however,
exclude the local late antique / Byzantine church of
Harran (called kanisat al-Riim) as a possible source of
recycled artifacts, as it seems to have been destroyed by
an earthquake in the medieval period.'?”

According to Michael the Syrian, Nur al-Din stole
some marble columns from a church, probably in
Amida, and had them transferred to one of his own resi-
dences.!?® At first glance, the sultan’s actions, when con-
sidered in conjunction with the columns flanking the

entrance of Harran’s mosque, recall al-Mansur’s efforts
with respect to the columns of the Great Church of al-
Ruha. Upon closer inspection, however, there are three
significant differences with the early medieval period.
First of all, in the later middle ages, older Christian arti-
facts were generally taken from defunct churches that
would not have been reopened for Christian worship.
Second, there was usually no mention of any possibil-
ity for or effort by the Christians to stop their buildings
from being plundered. Third, as the evidence indicates,
Byzantine architecture and artifacts, when reused as
spolia, were recontextualized through their insertion
into a (new) Islamic artistic framework.

It is plausible to assume that an aesthetic change had
reshaped the overall “taste” for this sort of religious
architecture.'? When thirty-two of its marble columns
burned in the fire of 1181, the Church of St. John, a
Byzantine church in al-Ruha embellished by the Lat-
ins, who had used it as their cathedral, was left aban-
doned. After the Muslim conquest in 1146, the church
was seized as booty of war, its sacristy later transformed
into a depot for cotton, which accidentally caught fire.!*
Between 1146 and 1181, the church and its “wondrous
red marble columns”!3! were available to its new mas-
ters. In spite of this, after years of neglect, the archi-
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Fig. 10. Left) Fragment of a Byzantine drum column decorated with grapes and wine leaves. Reused as a decoration in the
enlargement of the Great Mosque of Harran. (After David S. Rice, “From Sin to Saladin: Excavations in Harran’s Great
Mosque, with New Light on the Babylonian King Nabonidus and His 104-Year-Old Mother,” Illustrated London News 231
[Sept. 1957]: fig. 16)

Right) Shaft of a carved column decorated with grapes and vine leaves. Open-air section of the Museum of Antiquities in
Urfa. (Photo: Mattia Guidetti)

Fig. 11. Urfa, Ulu Cami, interior of the prayer hall. Collection of Professor A. Kingsley Porter. (Photo: K. A. C. Creswell.
Courtesy of the Fine Arts Library, Harvard College Library); © Creswell Archive, Ashmolean Museum, Oxford neg. EA.CA.
6599.
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tectural wonder that Zangi had admired when he
conquered the city less than fifty years before vanished
in a fire together with its renowned decoration.!*?

The Great Mosque (Ulu Cami) of al-Ruha is nota-
ble for the absence of Byzantine artifacts or any other
reference to the pre-Islamic period in its prayer hall
(fig. 11). Built between 1146 and 1191, when the adja-
cent madrasa was added to the mosque!**—or between
1146 and 1174, if one accepts Ibn Khallikan’s state-
ment about a mosque (jami’) built in al-Ruha by Nur
al-Din'**—the mosque incorporated the remains of a
church in the northern wall of the courtyard (figs. 12
and 13). Beyond the evidence of some integration of this
older material into the walls and portals of the court-
yard (figs. 14 and 15), however, the mosque’s structure
and architectural details were not in any way affected
by the presence of these church remains—or by the fact
that in this same period a number of other examples of
late antique architecture were available in the city.!3*

A brief overview of the religious patronage of Nur al-
Din and the early Ayyubids shows how a new aesthetic
language—one completely independent from that of the
late antique churches—had developed. Whereas marble
was used in new and distinct ways,!*® columns appear
mostly in high hierarchical points, such as entrances and

Fig. 12. Urfa, Ulu Cami, reuse of late antique materials in
the northern section of the courtyard, door of the hexagonal
minaret. (Photo: Mattia Guidetti)

Fig. 13. Urfa, Ulu Cami, reuse of late antique materials in the northern section of the courtyard, northern door of the

courtyard. (Photo: Mattia Guidetti)
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Fig. 15. Urfa, Ulu Cami, two late antique capitals in the courtyard. (Photo: Mattia Guidetti)
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Fig. 16. Urfa, Ulu Cami, detail of the hexagonal minaret.
(Photo: Mattia Guidetti)

mihrabs. Their use in the post-Crusades period dimin-
ished extensively and they lost the central role they had
held in the early middle ages.!*” Despite some reviv-
als, new patterns of decoration inform the interior of
the mosques.!*® Indeed, it seems that in medieval times,
vanishing late antique Christian architecture derived
its value more from its reuse as a deliberate accent (or
detail) in Islamic religious buildings rather than as their
main source of inspiration, as had been the case in the
earlier period.

In the wake of the construction of the minaret for
Aleppo’s Great Mosque in 1090, the hexagonal minaret
of al-Ruha’s Great Mosque, which dates back to the cen-
tury after the 1146 conquest, featured along its squared
shaft fluted stripes inspired by late antique Christian
architecture (figs. 16 and 17).13% Although the decora-
tion of al-Ruha’s minaret is more sober than that of

Fig. 17. The Great Mosque of Aleppo, detail of the minaret.
(Photo: Mattia Guidetti)

the one in Aleppo, both examples show how pieces of
late antique architecture were used as accents, inserted
and more or less successfully integrated in new Islamic
buildings. This reference to an ancient style hints at the
nature of the reuse of Christian artifacts in the exten-
sion of the Great Mosque of Harran during the second
half of the twelfth century. One may further note that
in this case not only were late antique / Christian archi-
tectural pieces reused, but some reliefs with a pagan
iconography and cuneiform scripts were set inverted
as pavement stones. An Assyrian column base was also
placed in the middle of a twelfth-century ablution basin
as an ornament (fig. 18).14% Such practices were con-
nected to the disappearance of non-Muslim places of
worship in the city. For example, pagan temples in use
until the beginning of the Crusades but no longer tol-
erated by Muslim rulers or the Byzantine church were
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Fig. 18. The Great Mosque of Harran. The medieval basin in the courtyard, with an Assyrian column base in the middle.

(Photo: Mattia Guidetti)

not restored by the Christian community after they were
destroyed by an earthquake in the eleventh century.

Without artificially postulating any symbolic repre-
sentation of the “victory of Islam,” at first glance, the
recycling of these pieces of late antique / Christian
architecture speaks to the general homogenization of
places of worship in areas that had formerly had a Chris-
tian majority, such as Bilad al-Sham, Egypt, and north-
ern Mesopotamia.'4!

If the homogenization of places of worship was a sub-
stantially new process for the area, at the same time
the nature of the reuse of ancient fragments and arti-
facts was different in comparison with their use in
the early middle ages. Take, for instance, the case of
al-Halawiyya Madrasa in Aleppo, where three out of
four original Byzantine exedrae were used in new Mus-
lim buildings constructed on the site of the Church of
St. Helen (sixth century), which remained in use until

1124.12 Here, the original Byzantine structure was
recontextualized into a madrasa, which apart from its
Byzantine core in the prayer hall was a product com-
pletely distinct from the original late antique building.
The carved wooden mihrab added to the southern wall
of the prayer hall is a perfect example of the new aes-
thetic that now ruled Islamic religious art.

Something similar could be said about the Christian
marble tables reused in a third context in the sixteenth-
century madrasa of Sibay in Damascus. These high-
quality marble artifacts were probably first recycled for
a madrasa or mosque built by Abu Sa‘id Tutush, the
Seljuq ruler of southern Syria between 1078 and 1095,
whose name appears inscribed in one of them.!*3 At
this point, it would not be mere conjecture to suggest
that these artifacts were used as altars in an active late
antique Byzantine church until they were removed.!4
We may even speculate that they originally belonged
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to the magnificent Church of St. Cassianus of Antioch,
plundered in 1084 by Sulayman b. Qutlumish, who at
one time was an ally of Abu Sa‘id Tutush:

He opened the great church of Kawsyana [i.e., Mar Cas-
sianus, the Martyr], and took from it the furniture and
curtains, the vessels of gold and silver, and the rest of the
objects that had been deposited therein by the citizens, a
vast quantity, and he made the church into a mosque.!*®

In general, it is easier to imagine that the altars were
plundered from a church located in the area recon-
quered from Byzantium rather than from one that had
been under Muslim rule since the seventh-century
conquest. Keeping in mind these examples, one should
also think of earlier mosques, such as al-Aqsa Mosque
or the Great Mosque of Damascus, where late antique
marble slabs, columns, and capitals were reused with
great frequency, contributing to the creation of the very
essence of the early Islamic religious aesthetic. With
respect to the enlargement of al-Aqsa Mosque during
the Umayyad period, for instance, Wilkinson has shown
how capitals with a visible Christian iconography were
consciously chosen to be reused in the magsira (private
enclosure) area, in the center of the Great Mosque of
Jerusalem. !4

In the eleventh and twelfth centuries, the alteration
of late antique marble fragments with Qur’anic quo-
tations and the transformation of their original func-
tion in a new Muslim setting (altars were often inserted
vertically in the walls, perhaps to be used, as Flood has
observed, as two-dimensional mihrabs)'4” demonstrate
that a new approach toward late antique art and archi-
tecture had been established.

CONCLUSION

By studying al-Ruha between the seventh and thirteenth
centuries and comparing it with other cities in the Dar
al-Islam, we have sought to establish a connection
between the existence of Christian places of worship
and the reuse of late antique / Byzantine artifacts in
Islamic architecture in two different chronological peri-
ods: the early medieval (seventh to tenth centuries) and
the medieval (eleventh to thirteenth centuries). We have

furthermore suggested that this connection should be
integrated into the analysis of the formation and devel-
opment of Islamic art in the area of Bilad al-Sham.

In summary, while in the early medieval era Chris-
tian / Byzantine artifacts were borrowed and reused
in a way that corresponded to their original settings
and maintained the coherence of their aesthetic value,
this was no longer the case during the eleventh to thir-
teenth centuries, when such artifacts were considered
in new contexts and sometimes even for new functions.
Moreover, this new attitude coincides with the disap-
pearance of late antique churches from many urban
contexts, while in the previous period they were still
important elements of the sacred landscape. Indeed,
changing political and social circumstances, such as
military conquests, transfers of rule, and variations in
confessional demography, suggested different uses for
late antique Christian buildings and architectural frag-
ments. When compared to the early Islamic period, late
antique churches in the twelfth century were neither
essential elements of Bilad al-Sham’s urban sacred land-
scape nor were they necessary as basic references for
Islamic religious art and architecture.

J. Paul Getty Post-Doctoral Fellow
Macerata, Italy

APPENDIX

Introduction to the Plans

While only an archaeological survey could provide a
definitive topographical plan of the city of Urfa during
the middle ages, these three plans are intended to show
only the transformations of individual sites of worship
within the walls of the city during three chronological
periods between the fourth and fifteenth centuries. Only
religious buildings are indicated. One should remem-
ber that the exact architectural plan and structure of
most of these buildings are unknown. The Christian
buildings may have had one of a number of plans and
typologies, e.g., martyria, churches, monasteries, or
cathedral complexes. Because of the complex history
of the city during late antiquity and the middle ages, it
is also probable that several places are missing in this
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list. With respect to the Muslim buildings, the options
were limited to mosques or prayer halls, although it is
still unknown with which type one is dealing in each
particular case. The positions of the buildings in the
plans of the city proposed here are hypothetical and
based directly on the written sources used in the accom-
panying article and on the works on these sources by
Kirsten, Segal, and Sinclair (see notes 4 and 40). Where
more than one location is indicated for a particular
building, it signifies that there is contradictory evidence
regarding its position. The following common symbols
are used: Greek Pi for the temples, the Star of David for
the synagogues, the cross for Christian places of wor-
ship, and the crescent for Muslim ones.

The key for each plan describes the buildings in use
within the specific time period to which the plan refers.
Ordinal numbers in parentheses have been used to dis-
tinguish various churches dedicated to the same saint,
as well as mosques whose names are not known. A
slash between centuries or years (e.g., 4th/6th centuries,
489/504) refers to the period during which the structure
in question was built. The mathematical symbols < and
> indicate the time before or after which a building was
in use. A dash at the end of the line indicates that the
building continued to be used beyond the chronologi-
cal period being described. The three symbols in close
succession (>>>) signal a change in the religion of wor-
ship in the building or on the site.
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KEY FOR PLAN 1

1. Temple, 3rd century B.C. - 4th/5th centuries A.D. (?) >>>
Church of St. John, 457 -

2. Temple, 3rd century B.C. - <201 A.D. >>> Old Church
<201-201. Rebuilt in 312; dedicated to St. Thomas (2) after
the transfer of his relics in 442; destroyed by a flood in 525;
dedicated to St. Sophia after its reconstruction by Justinian,
525 -

3. Synagogue, 4th/6th centuries A.D. (?) >>> Site annexed to
the complex of St. Sophia under Heraclius (?) -

4. Synagogue, 412 A.D. >>> Church of St. Stephen, 412 -
5. Church of the Martyrs (or of the Confessors), 345 —

6. Church of St. Sergius (1), 4th/6th centuries (?) -

7. Church of St. Thomas (1), 394 -

8. Church of St. Barlaha, 408 -

9. Church of the Apostles (or Great Church), 435 -

10. Church of St. Sergius (2), 4th/6th centuries (?)-

11. Church of the Mother of God (1) (or Martyrium),
489/504 -

12. Church of St. Theodore (1), 4th/7th centuries (?) -

13. Church of St. Cyriacus, 4th/7th centuries (?) -

14. Church of St. Theodore (2) / Church of the Cross, 4th/7th
centuries (?) -

15. Church of the Mother of God (2), 4th/7th centuries (?) -
16. Church of St. George, 4th/7th centuries (?) —

17. Church of St. Michael, 4th/7th centuries (?) -



THE BYZANTINE HERITAGE IN THE DAR AL-ISLAM

PHASE 1 IV - VII

I 560 I 1000 m.

Plan 1. Phase I of Urfa, 4th-7th centuries
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KEY FOR PLAN 2

1. Church of St. John, 457; transformed and embellished by
the Latins as a cathedral >1099 >>> residence of Zangi in
1146; later abandoned >>> transformed into a wool deposit,
and burned in an accidental fire in 1181.

2. Old Church, <201; rebuilt in 312, dedicated to St. Thomas
after the transfer of his relics in 442; destroyed by a flood in
525; dedicated to St. Sophia after its reconstruction by Justin-
ian in 525; restored after an earthquake in 678-79; sacristy
and treasury possibly destroyed in 825 (see no. 9 below);
partially destroyed in 1032, but still in use in 1083; partially
collapsed in 1105-6; completely destroyed in 1174 or 1184.
3. Building annexed to the surrounding area of St. Sophia
under Heraclius (?) >>> Mosque (2) 825; restored in 1146 -
4. Church of St. Stephen, 412; probably used by the Latins
>1099 >>> used as a granary and then destroyed between
1146 and 1174.

5. Church of the Martyrs (or the Confessors), 345; destroyed
between 1146 and 1174.

6. Church of St. Sergius (1), 4th/6th centuries (?) -

7. Church of St. Thomas, 394 >>> used as a stable > 1146;
destroyed between 1146 and 1174.

8. Church of St. Barlaha, 408 -

9. Church of the Apostles (or Great Church), 435; sacristy
and treasury possibly destroyed in 825 (see 2 above); partially
collapsed and then destroyed between 1146 and 1174.

10. Church of St. Sergius (2), 4th/6th centuries (?); destroyed
between 1146 and 1174.

11. Church of the Mother of God (1) (or Martyrium),
489/504; destroyed between 1146 and 1174.

12. Church of St. Theodore (1), 4th/7th centuries (?);
destroyed between 1146 and 1174.

13. Church of St. Cyriacus, 4th/7th centuries (?) -

14. Church of St. Theodore (2) / Church of the Cross, 4th/7th
centuries (?); partially damaged by arson in 1032 and then
restored -

15. Church of the Mother of God (2), 4th/7th centuries;
destroyed between 1146 and 1174.

16. Church of St. George, 4th/7th centuries (?); destroyed
between 1146 and 1174.

17. Church of St. Michael, 4th/7th centuries (?); destroyed
between 1146 and 1174.

18. Mosque (1), >639 >>> partially destroyed and per-
haps annexed to the buildings surrounding the Church of
St. John and the Church of the Mother of God in 1032 (?)
>>> restored in 1084 with the construction of a minaret >>>
probably transformed into the residence of the Latin bishop
between 1099 and 1144-46 >>> restored by Zangi in 1146;
enlarged as the Ulu Camii (?) <1191 (probably between 1146
and 1174) -

19. Church of the Mother of God (3) and baptistery, 700;
partially damaged by arson in 1032 and then restored —

20. Church of the Forty Martyrs, <825; partially destroyed
in 825 and then rebuilt; destroyed between 1146 and 1174.

21. Church of St. Theodore (on the citadel), 10th/11th cen-
turies (?) >>> transformed into a mosque (3) >1146 —
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PHASE [I: VII - XII

6 * I : I 5[.)0 I ‘ . 1000 m.

Plan 2. Phase II of Urfa, 7th-12th centuries
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KEY FOR PLAN 3

3. Building annexed to the surrounding area of St. Sophia
under Heraclius (?) >>> Mosque (2) 825; restored in 1146;
transformed into the Hasan Paga Camii (?), 14th century —
6. Church of St. Sergius (1), 4th/6th centuries (?) - destroyed
).

8. Church of St. Barlaha, 408 - destroyed (?).

13. Church of St. Cyriacus, 4th/7th centuries (?) — destroyed
).

14. Church of St. Theodore (2) / Church of the Cross, 4th/7th
centuries (?); partially damaged by arson in 1032 and then
restored; in use in the 13th century - destroyed (?).

18. Mosque (1) >639 >>> partially destroyed and then per-
haps annexed to the buildings surrounding the Church of
St. John and the Church of the Mother of God in 1032 (?)
>>> restored in 1084 with the construction of a minaret >>>

probably transformed into the residence of the Latin bishop
between 1099 and 1144-46 >>> restored by Zangi in 1146;
enlarged as the Ulu Cami (?) <1191 (probably between 1146
and 1174) -

19. Church of the Mother of God (3) and baptistery, 700;
partially damaged by arson in 1032; in use in the 13th cen-
tury — destroyed (?).

21. Church of St. Theodore (on the citadel), 10th/11th
centuries (?) >>> transformed into a Mosque (3) >1146 -
destroyed (?).

22. Madrasa, 1191 -

23. Minaret and probable prayer hall or mosque, 1211-22 -
24. “‘Umariyya Mosque, according to an inscription dated to
1213-14 (position unknown) - destroyed (?).

25. Synagogue (position unknown) >1146 - destroyed (?).
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PHASE I11: X111 - XV

Plan 3. Phase III of Urfa, 13th—15th centuries
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